

Call to action: improving the lives of people with hidradenitis suppurativa (HS) in Denmark

May 2024

Health Policy Partnership

This national summary was developed as part of a project led by The Health Policy Partnership (HPP) with guidance from a multidisciplinary steering committee. HPP was commissioned by UCB, which initiated and funded the project. UCB reviewed all outputs, but editorial control lies with the members of the project's Steering Committee. Contributing experts are not paid for their time.

About this report

Research, coordination and drafting of this national summary were led by Chris Melson and Jody Tate of The Health Policy Partnership (HPP). HPP is grateful to Bente Villumsen (Patientforeningen HS Danmark), who was a contributor to this national summary and who is also a member of the Steering Committee that has guided the development of a **global-level report** on this topic.

We would also like to thank the following organisation for its endorsement:



Call to action: improving the lives of people with hidradenitis suppurativa (HS) in Denmark

CONTENTS

What is hidradenitis suppurativa?	4
HS in Denmark	6
What does best-practice care for HS look like?	9
How does HS impact people's lives?	11
Pain has a major effect on people's lives	12
People living with HS often struggle with mental health issues	12
Social life can be affected by HS	12
People living with HS may experience challenges around intimacy	12
HS can affect people's ability to work	12
Living with HS can result in personal financial costs	13
What are the policy and system barriers to best-practice care?	14
Low awareness among healthcare professionals is contributing to delays in diagnosis	15
Insufficient management of symptoms is leading to risky self-treatment	15
Access to multidisciplinary care may be limited	15
Emergency care is in need of improvement	16
Recommendations for policymakers	17
References	19

What is hidradenitis suppurativa?

What is hidradenitis suppurativa?

Hidradenitis suppurativa (HS) is a chronic and painful skin condition that can be debilitating. HS, also known as acne inversa, is a skin condition that is thought to affect around 1 in 100 people across the world.¹² It can cause significant physical challenges and lead to severe psychological distress.³⁻⁵ It is an autoinflammatory condition that contributes to inflammation below the surface of the skin.⁶⁷ The condition often starts in a person's teenage years and is characterised by recurrent flare-ups of painful nodules which can become abscesses that look like lumps or boils.89 These abscesses can rupture, resulting in a discharge that may have an unpleasant smell and stain clothing, and can cause scarring on the body, all of which can lead people to feel embarrassed or ashamed.^{4 10 11} Over time, inflammation can progress and lead to irreversible damage to the skin and scarring. 12 13 People living with HS may also develop draining tunnels under their skin that can connect between nodules, producing blood and discharge. 14 HS is also associated with a range of other conditions such as depression, spondyloarthritis (painful chronic arthritis that mainly affects joints in the spine), diabetes and inflammatory bowel disease, meaning that HS can require multidisciplinary care. 15-19

HS has a significant impact on people's lives. HS has one of the highest impacts on quality of life among all dermatological conditions.²⁰ A key driver of the challenges of HS is pain, which is reported by almost all people living with the condition and can make it difficult to carry out everyday activities.^{21 22} HS can have a major effect on almost every part of a person's life, including their personal relationships, work and social life; this ultimately contributes to the condition being highly distressing and affecting mental wellbeing.²³⁻²⁵

HS can result in considerable system costs through the loss of productivity and frequent use of high-cost services. The condition often affects people during their most productive years, and can mean people living with HS are more likely than the general population to miss days of work, be unwell at work or be unemployed.^{24 26} This means the productivity of the HS population is significantly reduced. Additionally, high-cost settings such as emergency departments and inpatient care around surgery are used more frequently by people living with HS.^{27 28} This combination of factors means that HS can lead to significant costs to the health system and wider economy.

HS in Denmark

HS in Denmark

In Denmark, around 1 in 100 people are thought to have HS.² Women are almost twice as likely as men to have HS. This is similar to trends seen in other Western countries.² ²⁰ ²⁹

Several treatments for HS are available, but none are uniformly effective. Various treatments are used for HS, but none are effective for every person.³⁰ In general, topical treatments are used as first-line treatments, followed by prolonged antibiotics, with biologic therapy used if all previous options are ineffective.³⁰ Surgery is also used to treat tunnels and scarring³¹ – interventions may involve excision or laser techniques.⁹

Dermatologists play a key role in the diagnosis and management of HS, but other healthcare professionals are involved too. Dermatologists are able to diagnose and manage the majority of people living with HS, but non-dermatologists also often encounter people with the condition. Some dermatologists are able to perform surgical procedures, but surgeons and gynaecologists (depending on the location of symptoms) may also be involved if surgery is required. Management of HS is guided by clinical guidelines from the Danish Dermatological Society. There are at least six hospitals in Denmark that deliver specialist HS care. Sa-38 Data on HS is currently being collected through the Clinical Scandinavian Registry for Hidradenitis Suppurativa, but in future this will be collected through the European Registry for Hidradenitis Suppurativa.

People living with HS in Denmark can access support from a national patient organisation. Patientforeningen HS Danmark is the HS patient organisation in Denmark and provides support for people living with the condition. The organisation gives information on what HS is, how to get a diagnosis, potential treatments and wound care.⁴¹ Patientforeningen HS Danmark also shares the experiences of people living with the condition and the impacts the condition has had on their social and work lives.⁴¹



Bente's story

Bente was 16 when she found her first abscess – she told her parents and was set to have surgery to remove it, but the abscess disappeared on its own. Over the next couple of years the disease came back and got worse. As a teenager she really wanted to look good but wasn't able to wear the clothes everyone else was wearing because the her abscesses made it too painful.

'I couldn't wear jeans like everyone did, so sometimes I made long skirts for myself that I would wear. I sewed special shorts with sanitary towels inside them, and I brought extra in my bag for if they were soaked.'

As the condition got worse, Bente found it hard to manage her symptoms and they would prevent her from doing things she loved, such as riding her bicycle. This had a significant impact on her mental health.

'It was really hard to manage on an everyday basis. Not being able to exercise is really bad for me and also for my mental health. Mental health is so bad among HS patients. I think the best question to ask an HS patient is "How are you?" It's very rare that someone does.'

As she grew older and her HS became more severe, the pain meant Bente struggled with intimacy and this had a serious impact on her quality of life.

'When my HS was at its worst, I had to talk to my husband about where he can touch me and how much he can touch me. I often refused sex because it was too bad. It was just so painful.'

Bente has had lots of sick leave because of surgeries and flare-ups. When she was 46, her primary care physician said they would support the option of Bente receiving her pension early, because of the impact of HS on her work. She refused because she loves her job and did not want her HS to restrict her life.

'Sometimes it was very painful to go to work.

I really love my work [in the environmental sector].

I often say that I chose the environment, but HS has chosen me.'

What does best-practice care for HS look like?

What does best-practice care for HS look like?

HS can be a frustrating condition to manage, both for people living with the condition and for the healthcare professionals treating it. While there is currently no cure for HS, its impact can be reduced if people receive best-practice care at every stage (*Figure 1*).

Figure 1. Best-practice HS patient pathway

The process of HS diagnosis should ensure the person feels heard and that they are not blamed for their condition as this risks deterring them from seeking care in future. Diagnosis should involve:

- clinical assessment based on the nature, frequency and location of symptoms^{3 16}
- screening for other conditions that are associated with HS such as obesity, diabetes, depression and Crohn's disease, to better understand the person's complex needs⁴²
- establishing whether HS is part of a syndrome

 such as pyoderma gangrenosum, acne and HS
 (PASH) that may require additional care



- a quality-of-life assessment using the Dermatology Life Quality Index (DLQI) to help establish severity (a flare-up may not be at its worst during a clinical assessment, therefore understanding the impact of HS separately from clinical presentation can provide a more accurate picture of severity)
- a healthcare professional with specialist
 HS knowledge, such as a dermatologist,
 to reduce the risk of misdiagnosis.
 Primary care physicians, surgeons,
 gynaecologists and emergency care
 clinicians with specialist HS knowledge
 may also be capable of diagnosing.



Different people may see different results with the same treatment.⁴³ People living with HS should be involved in decisions around treatment and informed of any potential side effects. Treatment may involve:

 medical treatments such as topical or systemic antibiotics,* biologic therapies, hormonal therapies, high dosage oral zinc, corticosteroids, retinoids or

*Long-term and repeated use of antibiotics should be limited owing to risks of antimicrobial resistance. $^{\rm 48}$

immunosuppressors;^{44 45} pain may also be managed using medical treatments such as non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and opioids³

- **surgical interventions,** ⁴⁶ depending on the location and severity of the condition ^{3 47}
- laser procedures.⁴⁴

Ongoing care should involve management by a multidisciplinary team, led by a dermatologist or primary care physician, and should include:

- other specialists as required, such as a surgeon, psychologist, psychiatrist, wound care specialist, dermatology nurse, gastroenterologist, rheumatologist, gynaecologist, dietitian, cardiologist, endocrinologist, proctologist⁴⁴ and pain management specialist⁴⁹
- up-to-date information on current treatments to allow people living with HS to make informed decisions on ongoing treatment



- rapid access to a dermatologist for acute flare-ups that require urgent care
- empowering people to report side effects and concerns from treatment
- clinically validated self-care to manage pain
- a standardised at-home 'rescue pack' that includes corticosteroids (to treat early flare-ups) and is accompanied by clear guidance on how to use them safely
- support from an HS patient organisation.

How does HS impact people's lives?

How does HS impact people's lives?

Pain has a major effect on people's lives

Pain is very common for people living with HS and drives many of the challenges related to the condition. It is well understood that pain is experienced by almost all people living with HS and is a major, debilitating symptom. ^{21 25 50 51} People report pain as one of the worst symptoms of their condition. ⁵² The high intensity and frequency of pain is a persistent burden and has a huge impact on the quality of life of people living with HS. ^{50 53}

People living with HS often struggle with mental health issues

HS can cause significant mental health challenges, resulting in an increased risk of suicide. It is common for people living with HS to face mental health issues, with around one in five people struggling with depression as a result of their symptoms.⁵⁴ This is considered to be a consequence of the pain, smell and scarring caused by HS.⁵⁵ Symptoms can also appear randomly, leading people to feel that they lack control.⁵⁵ All of these factors contribute to people with HS being twice as likely to take their own lives than people without the condition.⁵⁶ There are also reports of some individuals with HS becoming dependent on drugs or alcohol as a result of the challenges they encounter.⁵⁵

Social life can be affected by HS

Symptoms can make people feel embarrassed and lead to them becoming socially isolated. When abscesses rupture, it can result in discharge that smells and may visibly stain clothing; this can be a source of embarrassment and make people feel self-conscious, which may cause people to isolate themselves.⁵⁵

People living with HS may experience challenges around intimacy

Pain and scarring can have an impact on intimacy. People may feel self-conscious about scarring on their bodies, which can affect how people feel about themselves and whether they want to be intimate or not.⁵⁵ A study in Denmark found that people living with HS have a worse perception of their own body compared to people with other skin conditions.⁵⁷ According to one person interviewed for this report, the intense pain from symptoms can make intimacy physically difficult and this has an enormous impact on quality of life.⁵⁸

HS can affect people's ability to work

HS symptoms can lead to people missing work or being sick at work. HS symptoms can often affect people at their most productive time in life, hindering their ability to work.²⁶ A considerable number of people report feeling impaired by their HS at work, or that their condition forces them to miss work.⁵⁹ In Denmark, rates of unemployment are over four times higher among people living with HS than the national average.⁶⁰

Living with HS can result in personal financial costs

People living with HS in Denmark face a range of financial pressures. HS-related employment issues may contribute to financial challenges. Additionally, people living with HS may face needing to pay for medicines as well as daily wound care. ⁵⁵ A global study, which included participants from Denmark, found that one in six people needed five or more changes to their dressing a day. ⁶¹

What are the policy and system barriers to best-practice care?

What are the policy and system barriers to best-practice care?

Low awareness among healthcare professionals is contributing to delays in diagnosis

A lack of awareness among healthcare professionals encountering HS is resulting in unacceptably long delays in diagnosis. One global study, which included people from Danish centres, estimated it takes more than seven years from experiencing symptoms to receiving a diagnosis. 62 This delay may be a result of insufficient knowledge of HS, particularly among non-dermatologists who may encounter HS at an early stage. 26 31 62 Ensuring that these healthcare professionals are properly educated about HS could improve the speed of diagnosis. 9

Insufficient management of symptoms is leading to risky selftreatment

A large number of people with HS self-treat pain, suggesting management of this symptom is poor. In one global study, which included participants from Denmark, almost half of people living with HS were dissatisfied or very dissatisfied with their current treatment.⁶³ Low effectiveness and unwanted side effects were cited as the most common reasons for dissatisfaction.⁶³ Additionally, a Danish study found that four in five people living with HS were self-treating nodules by squeezing them, or by cutting them open with needles or scalpels to relieve pain.⁶⁴ This suggests that the efficacy of current treatments for managing pain, in particular, is insufficient. Self-treatment using these techniques puts people at risk of infection.⁶⁵

Access to multidisciplinary care may be limited

There are centres that offer specialist HS care in Denmark, but people living with HS may still have to travel to receive care from different healthcare professionals. While there are some centres around Denmark that provide specialist HS care, it is unclear which specialists people can access through these.⁶⁶ Unlike European guidelines, the Danish HS clinical guidelines do not clearly recommend management by a multidisciplinary team.^{3 32} One person from Denmark who was interviewed for this report said they had to travel between centres to receive care from different specialists, suggesting that multidisciplinary care was not available to them.⁵⁸ Additionally, the individual felt they had to coordinate parts of their care by asking for referrals to certain specialists.⁵⁸ This placed further burden on the person living with HS, as they had to repeatedly explain their condition to convince healthcare professionals that they needed care – a tiring and frustrating experience.⁵⁸

Emergency care is in need of improvement

Some people may seek emergency care for their HS, but this is considered to be suboptimal. A global survey, which included people living with HS in Denmark, found that around one in five people had visited the emergency department for their symptoms five or more times throughout their life.⁶⁷ According to one person interviewed for this report, the care received through emergency services can be inappropriate in Denmark.⁵⁸ The individual went on to call for improvements in emergency dermatological services to provide people living with HS in Denmark the option of rapid access to urgent care.⁵⁸

Recommendations for policymakers

Recommendations for policymakers

People living with HS in Denmark are significantly affected by their condition, with policy barriers preventing them from accessing high-quality care.

To improve the lives of those living with HS, policymakers in Denmark should consider the following recommendations:

- Roll out HS educational programmes for healthcare professionals with a focus on primary care physicians, surgeons and gynaecologists to increase understanding of the condition and improve speed of diagnosis.
- Introduce a guide on safe self-treatment of HS symptoms to support people to better manage their own condition without risk.
- Encourage the equitable implementation of multidisciplinary care through HS specialist centres.
- Consider the development and roll-out of emergency dermatology clinics that are capable of providing rapid access to urgent care for people living with HS.

References

- Revuz J, Canoui-Poitrine F, Wolkenstein P, et al. 2008. Prevalence and factors associated with hidradenitis suppurativa: results from two case-control studies. J Am Acad Dermatol 59(4): 596-601
- Jemec GBE, Heidenheim M, Nielsen NH. 1996. The prevalence of hidradenitis suppurativa and its potential precursor lesions. J Am Acad Dermatol 35(2, Part 1): 191-94
- Zouboulis CC, Desai N, Emtestam L, et al. 2015. European S1 guideline for the treatment of hidradenitis suppurativa/acne inversa. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 29(4): 619-44
- Gulliver W, Zouboulis CC, Prens E, et al. 2016. Evidence-based approach to the treatment of hidradenitis suppurativa/acne inversa, based on the European guidelines for hidradenitis suppurativa. Rev Endocr Metab Disord 17(3): 343-51
- Pescitelli L, Ricceri F, Prignano F. 2018. Hidradenitis suppurativa and associated diseases. G Ital Dermatol Venereol 153(3 Suppl 2): 8-17
- Zouboulis CC, Benhadou F, Byrd AS, et al. 2020. What causes hidradenitis suppurativa? — 15 years after. Exp Dermatol 29(12): 1154-70
- Rosi E, Fastame MT, Scandagli I, et al. 2021. Insights into the Pathogenesis of HS and Therapeutical Approaches. Biomedicines: 10.3390/ biomedicines9091168
- Naik HB, Paul M, Cohen SR, et al. 2019. Distribution of Self-reported Hidradenitis Suppurativa Age at Onset. JAMA Dermatol 155(8): 971-73
- Vinkel C, Thomsen SF. 2018. Hidradenitis Suppurativa: Causes, Features, and Current Treatments. J Clin Aesthet Dermatol 11(10): 17-23
- Ingram JR. 2016. Hidradenitis suppurativa: an update. Clin Med 16(1): 70-3
- Wang SC, Wang SC, Sibbald RG, et al. 2015. Hidradenitis Suppurativa: A Frequently Missed Diagnosis, Part 1: A Review of Pathogenesis, Associations, and Clinical Features. Adv Skin Wound Care 28(7): 325-32
- Schneider-Burrus S, Tsaousi A, Barbus S, et al. 2021. Features Associated With Quality of Life Impairment in Hidradenitis Suppurativa Patients. Front Med: 10.3389/ fmed.2021.676241:
- Ocker L, Abu Rached N, Seifert C, et al. 2022. Current Medical and Surgical Treatment of Hidradenitis Suppurativa-A Comprehensive Review. J Clin Med: 10.3390/jcm11237240
- Mayo Clinic. Hidradenitis suppurativa. Available from: https://www.mayoclinic.org/diseases-conditions/ hidradenitis-suppurativa/symptoms-causes/syc-20352306 [Accessed 12/02/24]
- Misitzis A, Katoulis A. 2021. Assessing Psychological Interventions for Hidradenitis Suppurativa as a First Step Toward Patient-Centered Practice. Cutis 107(3): 123-24
- Johnston LA, Alhusayen R, Bourcier M, et al. 2022. Practical Guidelines for Managing Patients With Hidradenitis Suppurativa: An Update. J Cutan Med Surg 26(2_suppl): 2S-24S
- Tzellos T, Zouboulis CC. 2022. Which hidradenitis suppurativa comorbidities should I take into account? Exp Dermatol 31(Suppl 1): 29-32
- Tarcă E, Cojocaru E, Caba B, et al. 2021.
 Multidisciplinary Management of Adolescents with Hidradenitis Suppurativa - Series of Cases and Literature Review. J Multidiscip Healthc 14: 2205-16
- Bertolotti A, Sbidian E, Join-Lambert O, et al. 2021. Guidelines for the management of hidradenitis suppurativa: recommendations supported by the Centre of Evidence of the French Society of Dermatology. Br J Dermatol 184(5): 963-65

- Killasli H, Sartorius K, Emtestam L, et al. 2020. Hidradenitis Suppurativa in Sweden: A Registry-Based Cross-Sectional Study of 13,538 Patients. *Dermatology* 236(4): 281-88
- Matusiak Ł, Szczęch J, Kaaz K, et al. 2018. Clinical Characteristics of Pruritus and Pain in Patients with Hidradenitis Suppurativa. Acta Derm Venereol 98(2): 191-94
- van der Zee HH, van de Bunte M, van Straalen KR.
 2022. Management of mild hidradenitis suppurativa:
 our greatest challenge yet. Br J Dermatol 186(2):
 355-56
- Alavi A, Farzanfar D, Lee RK, et al. 2018. The Contribution of Malodour in Quality of Life of Patients With Hidradenitis Suppurativa. J Cutan Med Surg 22(2): 166-74
- Schneider-Burrus S, Kalus S, Fritz B, et al. 2023. The impact of hidradenitis suppurativa on professional life. Br J Dermatol 188(1): 122-30
- Vekic DA, Cains GD. 2017. Hidradenitis suppurativa Management, comorbidities and monitoring. Aust J Gen Pract 46(8): 584-88
- Dufour DN, Emtestam L, Jemec GB. 2014. Hidradenitis suppurativa: a common and burdensome, yet underrecognised, inflammatory skin disease. *Postgrad Med J* 90(1062): 216-21
- Frings VG, Schöffski O, Goebeler M, et al. 2021.
 Economic analysis of the costs associated with Hidradenitis suppurativa at a German University Hospital. PLoS One: 10.1371/journal.pone.0255560
- Shalom G, Babaev M, Freud T, et al. 2017.
 Demographic and health care service utilization by 4417 patients with hidradenitis suppurativa. J Am Acad Dermatol 77(6): 1047-52
- Vinding GR, Miller IM, Zarchi K, et al. 2014. The prevalence of inverse recurrent suppuration: a population-based study of possible hidradenitis suppurativa. Br J Dermatol 170(4): 884-9
- Theut Riis P, Lindsø Andersen P, Jemec GB. 2018. Arguments for a national questionnaire-based screening for hidradenitis suppurativa in Denmark. Acta Dermatovenerol APA 27(3): 115-20
- Saunte DML, Jemec GBE. 2017. Hidradenitis Suppurativa: Advances in Diagnosis and Treatment. JAMA 318(20): 2019-32
- Saunte DM, Dufour DN, Kofoed K, et al. 2020. Guidelines vedr. behandling af hidrosadenitis suppurativa. Copenhagen: Dansk Dermatologisk Selskab
- Bispebjerg Hospital. Laser treatment and hidradenitis suppurativa [translated]. Available from: https:// www-bispebjerghospital-dk.translate.goog/ undersoegelse-og-behandling/find-undersoegelse-ogbehandling/Sider/Laserbehandling-og-hidroadenitissuppurativa--19733.aspx?_x_tr_sl=de&_x_tr_tl=en&_x_ tr_hl=en&_x_tr_pto=wapp [Accessed 18/09/23]
- ERN-Skin. Department of Dermatology Zealand University Hospital - Roskilde (DK). Available from: https://ern-skin.eu/reference-center/zealand-university-hospital-dk04/ [Accessed 18/09/23]
- Skin Inflammation & Psoriasis International Network. Department of Dermatology, Aarhus University Hospital, Skejby. Available from: https://www.spindermatology.org/find-experts-and-peers/department-of-dermatology [Accessed 18/09/23]
- ERN-Skin. Department of Dermatology and Allergy -Odense University Hospital - Odense (DK). Available from: https://ern-skin.eu/reference-center/odenseuniversity-hospital-dk03/ [Accessed 18/09/23]
- Aalborg Universitetshospital. Surgery for sweat gland inflammation (hidradenitis) [translated]. Available from: https://aalborguh.rn.dk/undersoegelse-og-behandling/ mave-tarm-kirurgi/mave-tarmkirurgi?rnid=kkka01-157 [Accessed 18/09/23]

- Gentofte Hospital. Hidradenitis Suppurativa [translated]. Available from: https://www. gentoftehospital.dk/undersoegelse-og-behandling/find-undersoegelse-og-behandling/ Sider/Hidrosadenitis-Suppurativa-549020. aspx?rhKeywords=suppurativa [Accessed 18/09/23]
- 39. Daxhelet M, Daoud M, Suppa M, et al. 2020. European registry for hidradenitis suppurativa: state of play. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 35(4): e274-e76
- Ingvarsson G, Dufour DN, Killasli H, et al. 2013.
 Development of a clinical Scandinavian registry for hidradenitis suppurativa; HISREG. Acta Derm Venereol 93(3): 350-1
- Patientforeningen HS Danmark. Life with HS
 [translated]. Available from: https://hidrosadenitis-dk.
 translate.goog/home/livet-med-hs/?_x_tr_sl=auto&_x_
 tr_tl=en&_x_tr_pto=wapp [Accessed 17/07/23]
- Garg A, Malviya N, Strunk A, et al. 2022. Comorbidity screening in hidradenitis suppurativa: Evidencebased recommendations from the US and Canadian Hidradenitis Suppurativa Foundations. J Am Acad Dermatol 86(5): 1092-101
- Canadian Hidradenitis Suppurativa Foundation. 2022.
 A Guide to Hidradenitis Suppurativa: Living with HS.
 Richmond Hill: Canadian Hidradenitis Suppurativa
 Foundation
- 44. Chiricozzi A, Micali G, Veraldi S. 2019. The patient journey: a voyage from diagnosis to hidradenitis suppurativa multidisciplinary unit. *J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol* 33(Suppl 6): 15-20
- Hessam S, Sand M, Meier NM, et al. 2016. Combination of oral zinc gluconate and topical triclosan: An anti-inflammatory treatment modality for initial hidradenitis suppurativa. J Dermatol Sci 84(2): 197-202
- Bechara FG, Podda M, Prens EP, et al. 2021. Efficacy and Safety of Adalimumab in Conjunction With Surgery in Moderate to Severe Hidradenitis Suppurativa: The SHARPS Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA Surg 156(11): 1001-09
- 47. Scholl L, Schneider-Burrus S, Fritz B, et al. 2023. The impact of surgical interventions on the psychosocial well-being of patients with hidradenitis suppurativa. J Dtsch Dermatol Ges 21(2): 131-39
- 48. Fischer AH, Haskin A, Okoye GA. 2017. Patterns of antimicrobial resistance in lesions of hidradenitis suppurativa. *J Am Acad Dermatol* 76(2): 309-13.e2
- Patel ZS, Hoffman LK, Buse DC, et al. 2017. Pain, Psychological Comorbidities, Disability, and Impaired Quality of Life in Hidradenitis Suppurativa [corrected]. Curr Pain Headache Rep: 10.1007/s11916-017-0647-3
- Johnston L, Dupuis E, Lam L, et al. 2023. Understanding Hurley Stage III Hidradenitis Suppurativa Patients' Experiences With Pain: A Cross-Sectional Analysis. J Cutan Med Surg: 10.1177/12034754231188452:
- Howells L, Lancaster N, McPhee M, et al. 2021. Thematic synthesis of the experiences of people with hidradenitis suppurativa: a systematic review. Br J Dermatol 185(5): 921-34

- Ring HC, Theut Riis P, Miller IM, et al. 2016. Selfreported pain management in hidradenitis suppurativa. Br J Dermatol 174(4): 909-11
- 53. Jemec GB. 2017. Quality of life considerations and pain management in hidradenitis suppurativa. Semin Cutan Med Surg 36(2): 75-78
- Ravn Jørgensen A-H, Holm JG, Yao Y, et al. 2020.
 Occurrence and risk factors of depression in patients with hidradenitis suppurativa. J Am Acad Dermatol 83(5): e377-e79
- 55. Esmann S, Jemec GB. 2011. Psychosocial impact of hidradenitis suppurativa: a qualitative study. *Acta Derm Venereol* 91(3): 328-32
- Thorlacius L, Cohen AD, Gislason GH, et al. 2018. Increased Suicide Risk in Patients with Hidradenitis Suppurativa. J Invest Dermatol 138(1): 52-57
- Andersen PL, Nielsen RM, Sigsgaard V, et al. 2020. Body Image Quality of Life in Patients with Hidradenitis Suppurativa Compared with Other Dermatological Disorders. Acta Derm Venereol: 10.2340/00015555-3444
- Villumsen B. 2023. Interview with Chris Melson at The Health Policy Partnership [video conference]. 19/04/23
- Yao Y, Jørgensen A-HR, Thomsen SF. 2020. Work productivity and activity impairment in patients with hidradenitis suppurativa: a cross-sectional study. Int J Dermatol 59(3): 333-40
- Theut Riis P, Thorlacius L, Knudsen List E, et al. 2017.
 A pilot study of unemployment in patients with hidradenitis suppurativa in Denmark. Br J Dermatol 176(4): 1083-85
- 61. Moloney S, McGrath BM, Roshan D, et al. 2021. The Personal Impact of Daily Wound Care for Hidradenitis Suppurativa. *Dermatol* 238(4): 762-71
- 62. Saunte DM, Boer J, Stratigos A, et al. 2015. Diagnostic delay in hidradenitis suppurativa is a global problem. Br J Dermatol 173(6): 1546-9
- Midgette B, Strunk A, Akilov O, et al. 2022. Factors associated with treatment satisfaction in patients with hidradenitis suppurativa: results from the Global VOICE project. Br J Dermatol 187(6): 927-35
- Ravn Jørgensen AH, Yao Y, Thomsen SF, et al. 2021. Métodos referidos por los pacientes para aliviar el dolor asociado a la hidradenitis supurativa. Actas Dermosifiliogr 112(2): 153-58
- 65. HS Connect. Self Lancing: Why This Isn't a Good Idea. Available from: https://www.hsconnect.org/post/selflancing-why-this-isn-t-a-good-idea [Accessed 16/01/24]
- Patientforeningen HS Danmark. Youth with HS
 [translated]. Available from: https://hidrosadenitis-dk.
 translate.goog/home/livet-med-hs/ung-med-hs/?_x_
 tr_sl=auto&_x_tr_tl=en&_x_tr_pto=wapp
 [Accessed 17/07/23]
- 67. Garg A, Neuren E, Cha D, et al. 2020. Evaluating patients' unmet needs in hidradenitis suppurativa: Results from the Global Survey Of Impact and Healthcare Needs (VOICE) Project. J Am Acad Dermatol 82(2): 366-76

